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SENATOR WESLEY CHESBRO:  Welcome to the joint hearing on Proposition 63, the Mental Health Services Act.  I’m Senator Wes Chesbro, for those of you who have forgotten.  We’ve been gone for a few weeks now.


This is a joint hearing of so many committees that I’m not going to read the list because it would take the whole hearing, but a number of both Senate and Assembly policy and budget committees are jointly sponsoring today’s hearing.


The Legislature is required by law to convene joint public hearings on the subject of each initiative that’s placed on the ballot, and so, it’s under that responsibility that we are convening this hearing today.


The purpose of our hearing is to share factual information and to clarify the intent and purpose of Proposition 63 to better inform the voting public.  An official transcript will be made of the hearing.


As the chair of the Senate Budget Subcommittee #3 and the Senate Budget Committee, as well as the Select Committee on Mental Health and Developmental Disabilities, I, along with, I know, a number of my other colleagues, am deeply committed to ensuring that individuals with mental illness have access to high-quality community-based services.  Frankly, our failure to adequately fund those is one of the greatest shortcomings of the state government and the people of this state.  And so, this proposition, we can certainly argue about the specifics, but I think its intent is clear, which is to make up for that failure; to try to begin the process of adequately funding mental health programs in this state.


For today’s hearing we have two panels to provide a framework regarding the contents and the intent of Proposition 63 and the perspective of the sponsors, including Mr. Steinberg who’s with us today.  After we have heard from the panels and the proponents, we will proceed to public comment.


Let me move to the first panel.  We have two of our three panelists before us.  We’re expecting Mark Ibele of the LAO; Brian Putler, Franchise Tax Board; and Dan Carson, Office of Legislative Analyst.  We’re going to be looking at the revenue and tax aspects, the Franchise Tax Board’s process, and the policy aspects of this provision as well.


Let me begin by calling Mr. Ibele of the Legislative Analyst’s Office to talk about the revenue and taxation aspects.


MR. MARK IBELE:  Mark Ibele with the Legislative Analyst’s Office.  I’m going to turn it over immediately to Dan Carson, from our office, who’s going to give a short introduction to the proposition and the reason for it, and then I’ll go into the tax aspects, following that.

MR. DAN CARSON:  Mr. Chairman and Members, Dan Carson with the Legislative Analyst’s Office.


Pursuant to state law, our office does prepare a nonpartisan and impartial analysis of each of the ballot propositions.  We’ve done so in this case for Proposition 63.  As you’ve laid out, the thrust of the measure is to impose a new tax surcharge, the proceeds of which are dedicated into a special fund for mental health services.


So, let me refer to Mr. Ibele, then, to talk about the tax aspects of it, and then I’ll go on and talk about the mental health programmatic aspects of Proposition 63.


SENATOR CHESBRO:  Great.  Thanks.


MR. IBELE:  Mr. Chairman and Members, we have prepared a handout, which you should have a copy of.


SENATOR CHESBRO:  Before you go too much further, let me acknowledge the two Assemblymembers that we do have with us.  We have Assemblywoman Rebecca Cohn, and we have Assemblyman Nakanishi with us as well.  So, welcome.


Go ahead.


MR. IBELE:  Thank you.


As Mr. Carson mentioned, the measure would establish a surcharge of        1 percent on a portion of every taxpayer’s taxable income that exceeds $1 million.  This would begin in January of 2005 tax year.  We estimate that in the range of 30,000 taxpayers would be directly affected by this new tax and with estimated revenues in 2004/5 of $275 million (this would be a partial-year effect); 2005/6 of $750 million; 2006/7 of $800 million; 2007/8 of $840 million, approximately.  

One of the interesting issues of this is there is a substantial portion of incomes in excess of a million that would be business income; that is, sole proprietorships or subchapter S or partnerships.  We estimate that of the          $70 billion in income that would be subject to this tax, about $18 billion in the 2002 tax year would be business income.  Thus, of the revenues that are received from the tax, about 25 percent, or thereabouts, would be related to business activity.


Just to give you a little bit of background:  Currently, the taxpayers with taxable incomes of $1 million or more receive about 17 percent of adjustable gross income currently, and they pay about 23 percent of total personal income tax liabilities.  That’s based on 2002/3 data.  This new tax would increase the percentage of personal income tax revenues paid by these taxpayers to approximately 25 percent.


In terms of the federal interaction, the tax would generally be deductible from federal income tax for those taxpayers that itemize.  There’s questions that have been raised in the past about how this relates to the AMT.  Generally, the AMT would not play a role in this because the way the federal tax brackets work, the top tax bracket is now 35 percent and the AMT rate is 28 percent.  So, once you get over a certain level of income—certainly at the million-dollar mark—you actually fall into the regular tax bracket at the 35 percent.  Therefore, this surcharge—or this additional tax would generally be deductible.

Let me just say a little bit about the mechanism.  The revenues for the deposit into the new Mental Health Services Fund would be estimated on a monthly basis based on total income tax receipts that come in, and they would later be adjusted two years hence to account for any differences from the original estimate.  So, if the revenues that were actually received, the 1 percent—or less than the anticipated amount—there would be amounts that would then be taken out of the subsequent year to fund that.  And if they were more than the anticipated amount, there would be adjustments to make up for that shortfall.


One of the sections in the proposition—Section 14—it may be a little unclear because there’s a subsection (a) and a subsection (b) which both seem to indicate that a deposit is made to the Mental Health Services Fund.  Our interpretation of this is that the first of these, which adds Section 19602.5 (a), is an illustrative—or descriptive of what is to occur, and (b) actually spells out the steps that are needed to be taken to put this deposit in the Mental Health Fund.  So, our interpretation is that there’s just one deposit.


SENATOR CHESBRO:  So, you’re saying that there would be one transfer.  Is that correct?


MR. IBELE:  There would be one transfer.


SENATOR CHESBRO:  Does the Franchise Tax Board agree with that interpretation?


MR. BRIAN PUTLER:  Brian Putler, Franchise Tax Board.  And yes, we do agree with what Mr. Ibele just described.


SENATOR CHESBRO:  Okay, thank you.


Go ahead.


MR. IBELE:  Just one more item on the tax itself.  This is a strata of the income that is subject to some volatility.  For example, between 2001 and 2002, the tax liabilities for taxpayers with incomes of $1 million or more, in 2001 it was $3.5 billion, and in 2002 it had dropped to $2.6 billion.  So, there is some volatility there.


SENATOR CHESBRO:  So, the definition of “personal income tax” that this would be added to includes capital gains and also revenues or income an individual receives in the form of stock options.

MR. IBELE:  Yes.  It would include all those components of tax . . .


SENATOR CHESBRO:  And that’s presumably the most volatile portion of the . . . 


MR. IBELE:  In the recent past, that’s been quite volatile, yes.


The new tax itself would also not be subject to indexing, which means that the bracket, the $1 million bracket, would stay at $1 million.  Currently, in our personal income tax system, the brackets are adjusted annually for cost of living.  Last year the adjustment was 3.1 percent.  The tax bracket at the upper level—that is, the component of taxable income that’s subject to the 9.3—moved up from about $78,000 to a little over $80,000 for this year for joint filers.  


And that concludes my testimony on the tax portion.


SENATOR CHESBRO:  Okay.  I wasn’t sure, by the way, the way you two were interacting, if you want to go ahead, Mr. Carson.


MR. CARSON:  It’s your option, Mr. Chairman.


SENATOR CHESBRO:  Go ahead, Dan, then, and complete more of the policy side of the discussion, and then we’ll go to Mr. Putler, representing the Franchise Tax Board.


MR. CARSON:  Certainly, Mr. Chairman.


The other side of this equation, of course, is:  What happens to the money?  How is the money spent?  This measure does deposit all of the revenues that come from this new tax surcharge into a new special fund that’s dedicated essentially for an expansion of county mental health programs, for the most part, as well as the creation of some new programs.  The fund is continuously appropriated, which means that, generally, these funds would flow outside of any legislative appropriation.  They would be allocated primarily by the state Department of Mental Health.


The money is tied—and it has to be consistent in its expenditure—with plans that the counties would devise.  They would be three-year plans that would be updated annually that would lay out their program in various components.  There’s a series of mandated requirements in these plans that’s proposed in the initiative.  And then, the measure does provide that up to 5 percent of the funds derived from this tax would be available for these county planning and other county administrative activities.  So, it would be self-funded in that respect.


It creates a series of mechanisms for oversight and administration of these funds in addition to what I just mentioned, which is the Department of Mental Health being assigned the lead role in the allocation of these resources.  It also creates a new Mental Health Services Oversight and Accountability Commission that would review county plans, and they would have authority over approval of certain expenditures but not all of the expenditures that are listed in this measure.  

The measure also provides that a share of the funding from these new tax resources would be available to pay for the state implementation costs.


SENATOR CHESBRO:  You’ve been talking about how the funds would be allocated within each county, and you probably were going to get to this and I’m jumping ahead, but can you talk about the procedure for deciding what the allocations are for each county?


MR. CARSON:  Yes.  And it’s not a set formula, as provided under this measure.  It says that the Department of Mental Health is supposed to look at certain factors.  One of those factors is the capacity of each county to serve its mentally ill population.  It’s supposed to look at the unmet needs within each county.  It’s supposed to look, of course, at the overall amount of funds that are available under the initiative.  And then there is language in the measure that indicates that the department should focus on providing some additional resources to underserved counties.  It doesn’t statutorily define how you determine that, but it suggests that it’s something more here than just a formulaic distribution on the basis, let’s say, of California population.


SENATOR CHESBRO:  So, the allocation is not something that’s arrived at and then becomes a formula fixed, but rather, it can be revisited by the department over the years.


MR. CARSON:  I think clearly the language would allow for that flexibility for situations that change.  A county that might be underserved now, with time and the passage of this measure, perhaps would no longer be in that underserved category.

There are some other significant fiscal provisions to this measure.  You’ll hear the words “maintenance of effort,” I suspect, in this hearing a bit.  Basically, the language says that the new revenues that are derived from this new text can only be used to expand mental health services, and they can’t be used for other purposes.  For example, there’s specific language that says it couldn’t be loaned to the General Fund to help bail the state out of a fiscal problem.  The state and counties would be prohibited from reducing General Fund support, entitlements to services, and uses the language, “formula distributions of funds below the 2003/04 level.”  That not only has some impact potentially in the short term, in terms of recent budget actions, but we read some of the language as having an ongoing effect.  


To use one example, we have a split between the state and the counties on their respective shares of cost in the EPSDT, especially mental health services for children.  We would think that this language probably means that the state would not be able to take that 10 percent share of costs that was in place for ’03/’04 and, for example, bump it up to 20 percent, as was discussed in this last budget cycle.  That would seem to be something that you would not be able to do if this measure became law.


There is also language here that says that the state would be prohibited from restructuring mental health programs so that you increase the share of a cost borne by a county or increase their financial risk, unless the state provided adequate funding to fully compensate the counties for that risk.  And the language does appear to tie to a county-by-county application.  And we’re reading this language, generally, to be a program-by-program maintenance-of-effort level.  It doesn’t seem, looking at this language, to be one aggregate dollar amount that we have to meet.


SENATOR CHESBRO:  Assemblywoman Cohn has a question.

ASSEMBLYWOMAN REBECCA COHN:  I have a couple of questions, and they’re in different areas as it relates to this first panel.


It was indicated that the personal income tax is a volatile revenue source.  What impact does that volatile assessment that you’re giving have on the amount of funds or the distribution of funds within this initiative?


MR. CARSON:  Let me defer to Mr. Ibele to talk about the potential here for dollar fluctuations, and then let me add on at the end for a comment.


ASSEMBLYWOMAN COHN:  Okay.


MR. IBELE:  It’s really the upper end that tends to be more volatile than the personal income tax itself.  It’s the upper end of the income spectrum where there are things like capital gains and dividends and so forth.  So, that’s the area that shows the most volatility.  The example that I gave you, which was the difference between 2001 tax year and 2002, was the most extreme that we’ve seen in recent history, and we’re probably unlikely to see something like that in the near future.  But it is something to certainly keep in mind in terms of budgeting; that it is susceptible to these ups and downs in the economy.

ASSEMBLYWOMAN COHN:  And do you think that three-year plan that the counties are going to be involved in and update annually is a sufficient mechanism for taking care of those kinds of swings in the revenue from that?


MR. IBELE:  I don’t think I’m in a position to comment on that at this point.


MR. CARSON:  Ms. Cohn, I would just add that part of the plans that the counties are to submit calls upon them to establish a, quote, “prudent reserve.”  That that’s supposed to be a part of the plans that are submitted for review and approval by the state.  Whether those reserves that are established are sufficient in every particular year as this revenue might fluctuate, I think we don’t have an estimate of that.  But there at least is a mechanism that the language states that the purpose of these reserves is to enable the counties to continue these programs and periods when funds might come up short.

SENATOR CHESBRO:  May I ask, would the two-year plan also impact that volatility question?  I mean, the two-year adjustment.  You were earlier talking about the fact that the money kind of gets allocated up or down in the following years if the estimate was off.


MR. IBELE:  Senator, the adjustments themselves would simply be a reflection of the volatility in the revenue source.  So, as the movement and the taxable income goes up and down, the adjustments would go up and down by a similar amount.  So, it really doesn’t even out. 

SENATOR CHESBRO:  So, you spread it out over a couple of years, though, don’t you?


MR. IBELE:  Well, it basically delays the impact.  It doesn’t really spread it out per se.


SENATOR CHESBRO:  So, if ______________ a brief blip, then it might have that effect, but if it was something like we’ve been experiencing now, it wouldn’t, so.


Go ahead, Assemblywoman Cohn.


ASSEMBLYWOMAN COHN:  I have just a couple more questions.  I guess this is for the LAO.


In your analysis you state that there would be increased federal funds that could be drawn down as a result of the change in the law.  Specifically, what kinds of things can counties do to facilitate more federal funding as it relates to this initiative?


MR. CARSON:  Ms. Cohn, I’d be happy to respond to that question.


We were thinking that the greatest single opportunity for additional federal funds would come as adults who, by most measures, are underserved by the mental health system, are better served particularly through these integrated systems of care that are contemplated in this measure.  We’ve seen that with the existing AB 34/2034 programs that have been created, that the evaluations of those have indicated that there is a significant increase in the share of the population of persons served by that program who receive insurance coverage, and a lot of that coverage is under Medi-Cal.  Clearly, what’s happening is case workers are able to get individuals qualified through various means for Medi-Cal, and we think that’s where the likelihood is; that counties collectively might be able to use these new dollars coming into the system to leverage additional federal dollars.

We would note that there’s language that in fact specifically directs the Department of Health Services to play a role in trying to help to maximize the federal funding available under this measure.


ASSEMBLYWOMAN COHN:  And then, I have two more questions.


Counties are always concerned about fairness and the way that funds that come from the state are distributed.  In your view, do you think that there’s a sufficient structure within this initiative in place to guarantee that funds are going to be fairly distributed across the state, or is that not set up at the present time, and is that something that the Legislature’s going to need to do follow-up on?


MR. CARSON:  Ms. Cohn, I think that’s one that starts to reach a political judgment about the value of the measure that I’d rather not reach.

I can tell you that you do have a role for this Accountability Commission to oversee this process and to weigh in.  On the other hand, this measure puts the levers, the actual allocation of the funds, in the hands, really, of the administration at the time, and there’s a reduced role for the Legislature, and we’re customarily used to having appropriation authority.  So, I think those are good issues for the proponents and the opponents to debate.


ASSEMBLYWOMAN COHN:  So, it could be political.  It’s not a surprising answer for me.


What—and it could be, I guess, for Franchise Tax Board or LAO—just historically, because I haven’t been here as long as some others, but what other tax increases in the past have been dedicated solely to fund social and health programs in the past, and were they considered successful?


MR. CARSON:  A couple of examples would be Proposition 10, which sends money to the Families First for primarily health and social services programs.  Proposition 99 would be another example of another tobacco-related revenue that goes for a variety of health resources and research programs.  Those would be a couple of examples.


ASSEMBLYWOMAN COHN:  So, those would be good examples for the public to look at in terms of the effectiveness of using sort of dedicated funds for these kinds of purposes.


Okay, that’s all the questions I have at the moment.


SENATOR CHESBRO:  Mr. Nakanishi has a question or questions, and then we’ll get back to Mr. Carson’s presentation.


ASSEMBLYMAN ALAN NAKANISHI:  This is for the Franchise Tax Board.  If 30,000 taxpayers _____________ income—25 percent you said was business—my question is:  Do you have any data of those who have ______________ who move away from California?

MR. PUTLER:  We don’t have data, I think, readily available that would show how many people would leave the state as a result of that.


ASSEMBLYMAN NAKANISHI:  I’m asking for any data on how many of these in this category moves away.  Let’s say you have 30,000 this year.  How about next year?  Are they the same people or different?  Are these people moving away?  Is there any data that I can get . . . 


SENATOR CHESBRO:  Do you mean on people who actually have left or are leaving now?


ASSEMBLYMAN NAKANISHI:  Yes, right.  You must have data in the last five or six years on this category who leaves.  Is there this data?


MR. PUTLER:  There may be data.  What I would have to do is go back to the office and check with the person who handles that sort of information.  And I’m happy to provide that to this body.


ASSEMBLYMAN NAKANISHI:  Thank you.


SENATOR CHESBRO:  Mr. Carson, transitioning back to, I think, where you were in your presentation, I think you hinted at, without naming, the         $20 million Children’s System of Care program relative to whether or not the money that was vetoed this year would in fact be restored under this measure.  Can you respond to that?


MR. CARSON:  Surely.  I think our reading of the measure, based upon both the plain language, our discussions with Leg. Counsel, our discussions with the intent of the proponents, we think at some time, in some way, that funding would probably have to be restored because we were at a higher level in ’03/’04 than is proposed in the ’04/’05 Budget Act.  What’s not clear to us, because there’s also language in the measure that says, “its perspective and its effect,” it’s not completely clear to us whether that means that you have to reopen the budget for ’04/’05 and act now or whether it means that when you act on the next budget in ’05/’06.  Is that when the obligation applies?  That’s probably a legal question beyond our capacity.

SENATOR CHESBRO:  Okay, I lied; I’m going to ask you one more question.  It’s again relative to this question of protecting existing state allocations.


Is the funding for the state hospitals protected as part of the mental health funding that would be part of the base here?


MR. CARSON:  Again, our reading of the language of the measure in the context of this proposal is that this measure is focused on county mental health services.  But—we would again concede that the language of the measure refers to mental health services, and it’s possible that you could have other interpretations of this language that would apply to various state mental health services.


SENATOR CHESBRO:  Okay.


MR. CARSON:  Now, to pick up where I had left off, there are a number of very specific programs and activities that are proposed under this measure.  I won’t go into great detail on all of them.  Suffice it to say that some of them amount to an expansion of programs and systems of care that counties already are deeply involved and providing at the county level; those being the expansion of the Children’s System of Care and an expansion also of the Adult System of Care.  


There’s a new effort here at prevention and early intervention.  The idea is to catch persons at early onset of diseases, like schizophrenia, and try to intervene.  There’s also a component there of a notion of outreach activities that could occur to encourage individuals and families to get in contact with the system at an earlier point in time; perhaps before families dissolve and problems have occurred.


There’s a resurrection of a Department of Social Services’ pilot program, the notion of wraparound services for families.  There’s a pot of funds that would be set aside for innovation programs that would allow counties to experiment with ways to improve access to mental health services, deal with underserved groups, improve program quality, promote interagency collaboration.  That’s one of the programs, along with the prevention and early intervention, where the commission has say-so on the allocation of funding.


There’s a component of funds, most of which flow early on after the adoption of the initiative if that were to occur, for expanding the mental health workforce.  It provides for a number of different strategies, including, perhaps, stipends and loan forgiveness, scholarships.  The idea here generally is that we’ll not only catch up with the shortages that exist right now in mental health personnel, particularly certain clinical specialties, but also provide the additional workforce needed to implement these new programs and program expansions.

And then, there’s a component here, again heavily weighted towards funding in the early phase of the implementation of this initiative, that allocates funding to counties for capital improvements and technological improvements to make their systems run.


We summarize the fiscal effects on page 4 of the handout we’ve provided you.  Mark referred earlier to the revenues we anticipate coming off of the tax surcharge which hit $800 million a year by ’06/’07, we do believe, probably growing in most years thereafter.  We refer again, in terms of a significant potential fiscal effect, that a reduction in state support for mental health services would be prohibited by this measure.  So, that would have a direct budgetary impact in the years coming up, given the actions that were taken in the budget at the end.

This measure does result in some state and county administrative costs.  As we’ve talked about earlier though, the resources that are provided and earmarked under this measure we believe should be sufficient to offset those state and county costs.  There would be some administrative costs for the Franchise Tax Board that would not be covered by these new revenues, but we think those costs would be minor.


As we discussed earlier, we think there’s a potential here for additional federal funds to be drawn down through Medicaid primarily and primarily for adults.


And then lastly, our analysis suggests that based on looking at other studies across the country and in California, that there would be some partial offset to state and local government costs because of the various effects from getting a number of additional people in the mental health treatment or providing more intensive and expensive array of services for those that might already be in the mental health system.  And so, we would anticipate . . .


SENATOR CHESBRO:  Examples of the types of costs that might be _____________?


MR. CARSON:  We think you would see some savings on prison and jail incarceration costs.  We think you would see some savings on admissions to emergency medical facilities, trauma care, and so forth, that would result in some savings potentially both for counties and the state.  Savings on things like homeless shelters and social services programs.  On the whole, we think most of the savings would probably accrue to the counties, but we do see that there would be some for the state.


SENATOR CHESBRO:  Some local enforcement, I would assume—police departments—and spend a little less time dealing with issues they’re not always well-trained for, if people appropriately have community services.


MR. CARSON:  Right.  Now, the magnitude of those is very hard to pin down, even looking at the studies; in part because we don’t know at this point exactly what programs will be funded, how effective will they be.  There’s a lot of decisions that get in the way of coming to conclusions there.  But a general order of magnitude, we’ve thought, is you could get into the low hundreds of millions of dollars collectively as an offset to the cost.

SENATOR CHESBRO:  Do we have experience from Mr. Steinberg’s program relative to some counties have had these more intensive programs for the homeless and in terms of measuring cost reductions in other areas of local services?


MR. CARSON:  That’s one of the bases of our conclusion here—the AB 2034 studies that have documented some of these effects.  The other study that we’ve looked at is what’s called the “New York, New York” study that looked at an expansion of the service system to the mentally ill that occurred in the city of New  York.  That one, I think, went farther in sort of documenting the costs and benefits.

SENATOR CHESBRO:  Okay.  Thank you very much.


We have Mr. Putler from the Franchise Tax Board who’s going to talk about the Board’s perspective and role in implementing this measure.


MR. PUTLER:  Well, I really don’t have much more to add, other than what Mr. Ibele has already talked about with regard to how the calculation for the transfer would be done.  The Board has not had an opportunity to take a position on the proposition at this point, and I’m here to answer any questions that you may have.


SENATOR CHESBRO:  Well, do you foresee any problems or issues       with. . . . I presume this would just be part of the regular income tax paying process.  It would not be a separate . . .


MR. PUTLER:  Correct.  We would view this as just an add-on to the personal income tax, and it’s something that would be accommodated on the personal income tax form.  So, on the Form 540.


SENATOR CHESBRO:  Okay.  Thank you.


I’m going to acknowledge Senator Torlakson’s presence and ask if any of the other legislators have questions for the panel members.  


If not, we thank you very much.


I’m going to ask Mr. Steinberg to come forward.


ASSEMBLYMAN DARRELL STEINBERG:  Good morning, Mr. Chairman and Members.  My name is Darrell Steinberg.  I still am, barely, a member of the State Assembly.


SENATOR CHESBRO:  I think it’s a title for life anyway, unless you want to have another title in the future.


ASSEMBLYMAN STEINBERG:  Yes, yes.  But that’s another story.


I’m really grateful actually that the Members took the time to come to participate in this hearing, which I know is considered a formality, but an important one because it’s not only a chance to clarify the intent of the initiative, but it’s also a chance to have a discussion in public about why I believe, as the co-proponent of this initiative, this is so important.  If I may, I’ll give a little statement here about why I believe this is so important.


I was raised, like I know all of you were raised, in a way that said your word is your bond, and when you make a promise, you have an obligation to fill that promise.  I feel the same way about the State of California.  Thirty-six years ago, when the state passed the Lanterman-Petris-Short Act, a well-intended policy to bring the mentally ill out of state hospitals, the state made an explicit promise.  We’ve actually researched the archives, and I’d be glad to share that with the committee.  Governor Reagan and the Legislature made an explicit promise that the money saved from the closure of the state hospitals would follow the client into the community.  We all know that this has been a promise which has been abjectly unfulfilled for over thirty years, and our society—all sectors of our society—and too many people and families have suffered and continue to suffer as a result.


The number one question I get all the time from critics, and it’s actually a very fair question, is:  Why is it appropriate to go to the ballot and to impose a specific tax upon a specific group of people in order to fund mental health?  And this is my answer:  In a perfect world or in a better world, this is not the way to fund government services.  I don’t rationalize it, and I acknowledge the criticism.  But for the mentally ill, this has not been a perfect world nor has it been even a better world.  And if you believe as I do that with every rule—and the rule ought to be that ballot box budgeting ought to be frowned upon—but that for every rule there is an exception, this is the exception.  It is the exception because of the unique history and the unfulfilled promise.  It is the exception because, with all due respect to all my colleagues, including myself, and legislators and governors who have served for many years, there is no reasonable prospect, in my view, that mental health will be made a funding priority in this state government.  There’s still too much stigma, despite the fact that we’ve made great progress; and frankly, the mentally ill are not a powerful enough constituency within the halls of this Legislature to have any reasonable degree of confidence that this promise, now thirty-six-years old, will be fulfilled before a half-century is out or even longer.


And so, we made the decision a year-and-a-half ago to go to the ballot because this is one of the major unsolved social conditions of our time, and we have an opportunity here to invest, when you add the leveraged federal funds Mr. Carson explained earlier, a billion dollars a year into the strategies and programs that are proven effective and to build that system.  

Now, people also ask:  Well, why the specific tax on million-dollar earners?  Why not do an across-the-board tax?  And I have two answers, and again, without rationalization here.  Number one, I think it’s fair.  When you look at the relative tax burden of million-dollar earners over the last several years, and you combine the impact of this surcharge—which, by the way, is deductible on federal income tax returns—with the 2002 federal tax cuts, million-dollar earners—and again, we’re talking taxable incomes; you actually have to make more than a million—but million-dollar earners will actually bring home more in 2005 than they did in 2002, and that’s with the surcharge.  To use the basketball analogy—as you all know, I’m a big Kings fan—no harm, no foul.  And a billion-dollar-plus investment in helping some of the neediest people in our society and really beginning to make a dent in homelessness, beginning to make a dent in providing relief to individuals and families who suffer from mental illness—it’s fair, and frankly, it’s doable.  


We all know the difficulty, with all due respect, of getting broad-based tax increases through this Legislature in order to meet some of the incredible unmet human need and investment needs in our state.  And this is fair, and it is achievable.


I want to talk for a moment about accountability because it’s the other question that rightfully comes up from people who want to know more about this initiative.  And I want to just say this from the get-go:  The principle of AB 34 from the very beginning, which is carried over to the principles in this initiative, are that I am not going to be part of throwing money at a problem.  I’m not going to be part of it.  I am interested in outcomes and results, and positive results obviously, for people who suffer from mental illness.


I want to tell you a little bit about our internal debate as we were drafting this initiative because there were some who argued—and I understood the argument because everyone is starving here, if you will, for funding—many argued that the money should go out on a formulaic basis.  In the end I said, No, I don’t want to do it that way.  If a city or a county does not have their act together and is not ready to deliver on the model of integrated services, outreach and integrated services, and if they’re not prepared to measure outcomes—they may have the most intransient and difficult homeless problem in the state—they will not get the money, or at least as much money as they would want.  The money will go out by competitive application with the Department of Mental Health, which already has a proven track record when it comes to the distribution of the $55 million annually under AB 2034.  They have a proven track record in putting the money out where the communities are ready to deliver the service.


We also have the Accountability Commission, which not only has review authority over the service aspect, they actually have approval authority over the innovative programs and the prevention portions of the initiative.  And if you read the initiative, it’s a broad-based commission with stakeholders representing various interests, including the business community.


There are extensive reporting requirements.  Again, we’ve emphasized from the beginning:  evaluation, evaluation, evaluation; outcomes, outcomes, outcomes.  And we’ll continue to do that when the initiative passes.

Finally, we did not put this initiative together as a service-only initiative because we recognized that one of the major problems in the mental health system—and it’s not unique to mental health; you see it across the board when it comes to social and human services—there is a significant shortage of human and physical infrastructure.  We don’t have enough child psychiatrists, enough social workers, enough mental health professionals.  And so, as you can see, in the first full three years of the initiative, 10 percent of the money will be dedicated to education and training, 10 percent will be dedicated to capital and technology.  Hundreds of millions of dollars to ensure that we bring the people into the fields that we can actually serve the people who need the help.

I said “finally” before, but let me say “finally” one more time.  I want to address the question about whether or not people of wealth will leave California if the initiative were to pass.  I want to cite the recently released report of the California Budget Project from September of 2004.  Now, they didn’t endorse the initiative, and frankly, I think they’re a little bit wary of the ballot box issue, but there’s one portion of this that I think is very relevant to some of the criticism of the initiative—that you won’t actually bring in this money because the people who earn over a million dollars a year will leave the state.  They analyzed what occurred between 1990 and 1995, during the period that the top rate went from 9 and 10 percent to 10 and 11 percent.  In 1990—I’m sorry, it was the year prior to the rate going up—there were 9,580 personal income tax returns reporting adjusted gross income in excess of $1 million.  In 1995, the last year that the rate was 10 and 11 percent—and it had been in effect then for, what, five years—the number of million-dollar earners using the exact same reference was 11,585.  So, the numbers of million-dollar earners actually went up during the period that the tax rate went from 9 and 10 percent to 10 and 11 percent.  So, that’s relatively recent history that I think helps answer that question.

Thank you very much, Mr. Chairman.


SENATOR CHESBRO:  Thank you, Mr. Steinberg.  I have a few questions for you.

ASSEMBLYMAN STEINBERG:  Sure.


SENATOR CHESBRO:  You talked about accountability built into the system, but the thing that is not there, or appears not to be—but fill me in with any details that you can—is what historically has existed in terms of the Legislature’s role relative to the budget process.  Now, I understand that part of that—and you indicated that the Legislature’s track record hasn’t been there to fund the program, so I’m not talking about the protection of the base of money but the actual decision-making about how the money gets spent.  There were a lot of people at the table, I know.  You were the legislator who was at the table, and I shared the co-chair role with you at the conference committee this year on the budget, and I know you are also concerned very much about legislative accountability.  So, can you comment on the Legislature’s role?


ASSEMBLYMAN STEINBERG:  Sure.  First of all, the Legislature does have the right, by majority vote, to clarify portions of the initiative.  Secondly, by a two-thirds vote, they can enact legislative changes that are consistent with the initiative.  So, there is actually still a formal role for the Legislature.  Secondly, when you look at how most mental health programs are funded now and what we do now, the Legislature does not make the. . . . the Legislature, of course, appropriates the money because that’s our role, but we do leave it, for example, under the AB 2034 program, which is, really, about the only remaining General Fund source of mental health funding, aside from the Medi-Cal side.  We leave it up to the Department of Mental Health to determine how that money is to be allocated.  In other words, they take the competitive applications under AB 2034, and they determine which counties get the money.  So, the way this is set up is very consistent with these existing programs.  The difference is, of course, that the people essentially, if the initiative passes, will be appropriating and continuously appropriating the money.  So, that won’t be in question.  And the remainder of it is consistent with what the executive branch and the Department of Mental Health specifically already does.

SENATOR CHESBRO:  I also wanted to see if I could, on the record here, get the same clarification we got earlier from the LAO and FTB relative to the method of depositing the funds in the Mental Health Services Fund.  There are two subdivisions, one of which provides that. . . . that is intended to describe the deposit to that fund, and the other subdivision is intended to prescribe the actual calculation of the amount to be deposited.  Was that your understanding as well?


ASSEMBLYMAN STEINBERG:  Consistent with the LAO, yes.


SENATOR CHESBRO:  And I’ll ask one more question, and then I’ll stop hogging the mike.


Oh, I want to, by the way, acknowledge Assemblyman Bermúdez has joined us.  Good to have you with us, Rudy.


And then, I wanted to ask you about the timelines.  I know there’s allocations that are proposed in ’04/’05, ’05/’06, et cetera, on out.  Are you at all concerned with the startup?  Have you looked at the question of whether or not ’04/’05 allocations. . . . given the experience we’ve had in legislative oversight in implementing programs, what’s your level of confidence that that timeline can be met?


ASSEMBLYMAN STEINBERG:  I have great confidence.  And based on history. . . . first of all, the initiative was left deliberately a little bit open on the timelines because we know that there is going to be some startup time.  And we also don’t want to elevate expectations in terms of the service delivery quickly because we need to, one, make sure we get the applications in, fund the competitive applications, and two, deal with this human and physical infrastructure issue.


But the reason why I have confidence was because of my experience in 1999 with the still-director of the Department of Mental Health in how they started the AB 34 program.  If you remember back then, the bill was signed by Governor Davis, I believe.  I’m going to be off dates here a little bit, but in September of 1999, and by the end of October, the three pilot counties were actually funded and beginning to get up and running.  And the only reason we’re here today was because we were able to get an evaluation by May of the next year which increased our investment to $55 million.  Had we not gotten started within a month or a month-and-a-half back in 1999, we may never have gotten to $55 million and might never have been here.

So, I know that the director’s going to approach it with the same intensity.  Of course, this is larger.  But I’m confident that they’re going to get right on it, and we’re going to get the money out appropriately as quickly as possible.


SENATOR CHESBRO:  Well, I have not always had the same level—not necessarily with this department alone but in general—the same experience consistently with state agencies that are ramping up programs.  So, assuming that I’m in a leadership role in the budget next year, let me just say that next spring we’ll be scrutinizing the implementation of this and trying to make sure that the deadlines and timelines in fact are met so that the benefits of the funds can begin to accrue at the earliest possible date.


ASSEMBLYMAN STEINBERG:  Can I mention subplantation for a minute as well?  Because it’s another thing I kind of want to get on the record in terms of my view in what I think the intent here is, because I know the way it is written, and it’s written pretty strongly.  But my view is this:  First of all, on the $20 million cut to the Children’s System of Care, which we all hated and fought against, if this initiative passes, there is no intent, and I will not stand behind any effort to interpret the initiative to say that that $20 million needs to be restored retroactively, because we won’t do that.  We’re not going to sue, proponents are not going to sue, when this initiative passes on that question.


Secondly, on the prospective subplantation, my understanding is, you know, as a layperson here, sort of, on subplantation.  It means that you don’t take out money on the back end because you know you’ve got a different source of money coming in the front end.  That’s subplantation.  But that is different from, for example, a budget crisis where every program is cut 5 percent across the board; in which case I would not expect that anything would be immune from an across-the-board kind of a reduction, so long as mental health is not singled out, as it so often has been singled out.  Subplantation means you don’t take it out because you know you’re getting an equal dollar value back in.


SENATOR CHESBRO:  Can I ask you, on the retroactivity question for the Children’s’ System of Care—not having it retroactive and acknowledging that it’s not, therefore, a part of this year’s budget—does that eliminate it as part of the base?  I mean, it would still be restored for coming years, I presume.


ASSEMBLYMAN STEINBERG:  Well, I hope so.  Yes, the desire would be to fight to restore the Children’s System of Care.


SENATOR CHESBRO:  But not as part of the guaranteed base that’s in this measure?  Because I’m not sure I agree with you, if that’s the case.  I mean, it’s one thing to make a sacrifice of something that the Governor has already decided, but I would be concerned about the ongoing question of whether or not we’re funding the Children’s System of Care.

ASSEMBLYMAN STEINBERG:  I thought about it just in terms of the cut to this year’s budget.  In terms of next year’s budget, I would expect and hope that that money would be restored.

SENATOR CHESBRO:  Well, I think that’s a question that we’re going to have to look at.


ASSEMBLYMAN STEINBERG:  As part of this.  And I certainly would limit my restrictive comments on subplantation to the current-year budget.


SENATOR CHESBRO:  Okay.  Questions from other Members?


Ms. Cohn?


ASSEMBLYWOMAN COHN:  I think that we all can agree that the mental health system in California has been chronically underfunded for way, way, way too long, and I want to commend you for bringing this initiative forward.  I know your passion for it, and I have the same passion, I think, for it.  But, as someone who has a responsibility for doing some of the Medi-Cal redesign, going into this next year with potentially large budget challenges looming, going into the next cycle, what concerns or thoughts do you have in terms of any potential detrimental effect on other programs?  Because that’s of concern.  I know we’re earmarking this for mental health, and I think that’s worthy.  I don’t like ballot box budgeting any more than anybody else, but I think we’ve been backed into a corner.  But I also am concerned that we don’t have enough money for providing general health for children in California and those in greatest need.


So, any thoughts on how this might impact other areas?


ASSEMBLYMAN STEINBERG:  Let me answer in a couple of ways.  First of all, as much as I am passionate about mental health, I would not have sponsored an initiative that did not contain a discrete source of revenue that I believe would not be touched by the Legislature.  I mean, there’ve been a lot of conversations about raising the rate from 9 and 10 to 10 and 11.  That may or may not happen.  No one’s holding their breath, I don’t think.  But no one has talked about a small surcharge on million-dollar earners.  So, I don’t think it is in conflict with any other potential source of additional revenue that the Legislature might consider.

Secondly, you have the LAO, which I don’t think is generally easily persuaded that a program can save, or an approach can save hundreds of millions of dollars.  I mean, everybody makes that argument when we talk about government and prevention.  Generally, we have to be a little bit weary of that because we know there are a lot of upfront costs.  Well, they said it right in their analysis.  And we know we’ve criminalized the problem of mental illness.  We’re spending so much money from police to county jails, to hospitals, to state prisons.


And then third, and this is maybe a little bit more of a philosophical answer, I was talking to one of my budget staff people a week or two ago who said that on his own time he wanted to do some volunteer work for the initiative, and I asked him why.  He said, Because it finally struck me—he works in the social welfare/foster care area.  Christian.  I’ll say his name.  It doesn’t matter.  I’m proud that he said it and saw it this way.  He said, It finally dawned on me that most of the areas that I work on, the root of the problem is mental and emotional health.  And it’s really true.  I mean, this has been an issue which we’re sort of afraid to talk about but affects virtually everything else we’re spending money on.  Why is there so much abuse and neglect?  Why do we have such a difficult foster care system?  Welfare?  I mean, go down the line here.  Look at juvenile justice.  Go down the line here.  Our failure as a state to make mental health a priority—mental and emotional health a priority—is costing us budget dollars and human lives across every system that we attempt to do well by.

SENATOR CHESBRO:  Well put.


ASSEMBLYMAN STEINBERG:  That’s my answer.


ASSEMBLYWOMAN COHN:  Thank you.  I’m glad you got into the criminal side of it, because as somebody who’s been looking at the prison healthcare system over the last year-and-a-half, we spend upwards of a billion dollars, and a good chunk of the money that we spend in the prison healthcare system is on psychotropic drugs for prisoners—one of the biggest areas of expense in the pharmaceutical dollars that we spend in the prison system.  I don’t know if the LAO looked at those kinds of cost savings, but I do think that there’s potentially a significant amount of savings to the state in care that we’re mandated to provide for prisoners when an investment earlier on in the process might keep them out of those facilities. 


So, I again commend you on your work.  I just had to sort of poke into that area a little bit because I am concerned that there seems to be greater and greater need on the part of all Californians, whether you’re wealthy or poor in California or in between.  There seems to be a greater and greater need, and there seems to be less and less resources that we are willing to invest in both our human infrastructure and every other kind of infrastructure in California.  So, I commend you for bringing it forward.

ASSEMBLYMAN STEINBERG:  Thank you, Rebecca.


SENATOR CHESBRO:  Senator Torlakson and then Assemblyman.


SENATOR TOM TORLAKSON:  Thank you, Mr. Chairman.


Following Assemblymember Cohn’s comments, I also want to commend you for the leadership, and not just on this but on a consistent basis all through your career before the Legislature and in the Legislature, working on the mental health problem.  I think the discussion you just had points out again that there are ramifications, there are collateral impacts and damage and issues, surrounding the whole range of mental health illnesses and challenges we have in mental health.  This initiative—and I’ve watched this area, worked in this area.  My father-in-law is a former administrator at Atascadero and Sonoma State Hospital and Langley-Porter.  And I, myself, have gotten involved in a nonprofit as a board chairman for three or four years working with Many Hands, a sheltered workshop for mental health individuals instead of hospitalization—vocational group work and less medicated, living in the community—and we saw, truly saw, the broken promise of the mental health system in Sacramento and the state hospitals closing down and no safety net having been established.


So, this initiative—and I’m coming up with a question for you—this initiative comes in a way that I think will bring. . . . it will address the bedlam of the current set of services, which I don’t want to call “a system.”  And I use the word “bedlam” with some focus, that it deals with it in a more comprehensive way and does, I think, take a step away from the bedlam where we put people in asylums, put people over here as weird and stigmatized and we don’t want to talk about it, but it begins to really open up a set of preventative services, intervention services, and deals with the overall stigma.  And so, bringing it to the people, bringing it in an initiative for us to vote on, gives Californians a chance, I think, for the first time that I can recall in these years that I’ve worked in the arena, to talk openly about mental health and the need for these services.  And so, you’ve underscored and the LAO underscored how it’s good for people, the humane side of it, and how sensible it is and long overdue, and it’s good for government and it’s cost-avoidance for the jails and the homeless shelters and so forth.


To what degree have you looked at it, and to what degree has there been a dialogue on it how it’s good for business?  Because it seems that the productivity, absenteeism, depressive disorders, in the range of mental health illnesses, where you see a large impact on the productivity of Californians . . . 


SENATOR CHESBRO:  And not to mention homeless people sleeping in storefronts.


SENATOR TORLAKSON:  Exactly, in terms of that dimension of business.


So, it seems like this is also not only good for people, good for government, and cost-avoidance of services that we sort of just try to Band-aid the situation, but it’s good for business.  And it seems like it’s also good for education, which is also good for business.  Children with mental health problems aren’t learning.  Parents with mental health problems can’t be the good, nurturing parents that they would like to be perhaps to help their children succeed in education, which is a challenge for us all and for business to have the best educated workforce.  

So, could comment on those two dimensions?


ASSEMBLYMAN STEINBERG:  I’d be glad to.


When it comes to children—I mean, if you’re serious about prevention, you need to start with children.  The fact of the matter is that the objective analysts have said that there are hundreds of thousands of children with serious mental illnesses, serious emotional disturbances, that are going untreated, and they pay a huge price; their families do.  The school system pays a price when they’re disruptive.  Our juvenile halls and CYAs, of course, are impacted in a major way.  The major part of this initiative is intended to help children—on the business end.

I have to tell you, this has been, probably, my major frustration in this area over the number of years, is that I know that what you just said is absolutely true; that this is a business issue.  And the business community ought to be on the forefront, despite the tax, of supporting this, and here’s why.  It bears my short story about why I got into this in the first place.


When I was on the city council in Sacramento in 1997, the city sued Loaves and Fishes.  You remember that?  I voted against it because I didn’t think it was right, and I didn’t think it solved the problem.  They sued Loaves and Fishes for exceeding their Sunday feeding permit because of the complaints from business owners and neighbors about homelessness and its impact.  I recognized at the time—I just happened to be running for the Assembly at the time—that the city was attempting to grapple with an issue, and the business community was attempting to grapple with an issue, it had little ability to grapple with.  And what was the foundation?  The lack of a mental health system.  


If you look in urban areas, the single major disincentive to economic development, especially in the urban center, is homelessness, is the social condition, is the feeling, right or wrong, that people are afraid to come downtown.  I hear it all the time.  If we invest in a decent mental health system, it will be good for business; much less the other issue that you cited, which is, mental illness is the single leading cause of workplace disability in the country.  We’ll turn profits, or more profits, if we have a decent system of mental health care.  I completely agree.  I hope Mr. Nakanishi sees it that way too.

SENATOR CHESBRO:  Assemblyman Nakanishi.


ASSEMBLYMAN NAKANISHI:  [Inaudible] . . . my highest priority since the day I announced my candidacy for the Assembly has been to improve mental health.  Now, maybe you answered it, but what made you choose this as your main issue?  Have you explained it already?


ASSEMBLYMAN STEINBERG:  No, I’ll be glad to say it again.  I think a couple of things.  One was that Loaves and Fishes experience, which said to me that this is a major quality-of-life issue that is being ignored.  Secondly, when I came here, a veteran-termed-out-Assemblymember gave me some advice.  He said, Pick a couple of areas to really focus on that are being underattended to because everyone’s going to want to coauthor the HMO reform bill and all that, and there’ll be enough people that want to work on that.  But pick an area that’s not receiving the attention.  And so, I took that advice.  I got into this.  I’m so passionate about it because I see it as crossing every economic sector of our society; every ethnic, racial, gender line.  I see this affecting more families than we know.


The most interesting statistic out of the polling we have done on the initiative, Alan, is the following.  We asked the question:  Have you been affected by mental illness?  And I think that the answer that we received was actually understated and underreported because people are reticent to talk to a stranger about their own personal lives.  But nearly 1 in 2 people polled report that they themselves, a close family member, or a close family friend has suffered from a serious mental illness.  

This is a personal issue to California, and it’s reflected in our poll numbers, which, I understand, the only poll that matters is the one on November 2nd, but it’s reflected in the support we’re receiving and in our polls because people want us to do something about this because they feel it in one way or another.


SENATOR CHESBRO:  So, what are your poll numbers?

ASSEMBLYMAN STEINBERG:  I’d be glad to share that; I’ve nothing to hide.  The independent Field poll of about three weeks ago had the initiative up 59 to 29 percent—a 30-point lead.  PPIC, which came out a day later, had us up 40 points—what was it?—66 to 26.  And our own polling is very consistent with the two.  But you know what?  Like any good candidate, I’m choosing not to believe the polls, and we are working day and night across the state to make sure we pass this.


SENATOR CHESBRO:  One concern is that there are many communities at the local level throughout the state that have various tax measures on who are trying to cope with the budgetary problems at the local level.  I think if you ask people about any one of these things individually, they might be more inclined to say yes than if they look at the cumulative.  So, I don’t think we can take it for granted, even though those numbers have been very, very positive.


ASSEMBLYMAN STEINBERG:  I’m not.


SENATOR CHESBRO:  And I think we all need to do what we can to educate people.


ASSEMBLYMAN STEINBERG:  I agree.  Thank you.  Thank you for your question.

SENATOR CHESBRO:  If there are no further questions, thank you for your advocacy.


ASSEMBLYMAN STEINBERG:  Thank you.


SENATOR CHESBRO:  I think you and I really began to get to know each other when we traveled around the state, and my first experience of actually sitting and listening to individuals with mental disabilities talk and tell their stories.  We did that together, and it was a very profound experience.


ASSEMBLYMAN STEINBERG:  I want to take a moment, if I may, and thank Dr. Nakanishi for, obviously, all your interest in healthcare issues, and especially to Senator Chesbro and Senator Torlakson who have provided a great deal of leadership on the mental health issue.  I know you’ve done a lot of work on mental health courts and the joint hearings that we had, which is the one year we actually were able to do something.  Your leadership is very much appreciated.


Thank you.


SENATOR CHESBRO:  Thanks.


Okay, the next panel is “Mental Health Services in California.”  I’ll ask the panelists to come forward.  I think all three are here.

We are going to hear from Sandra Naylor Goodwin, executive director of the California Institute for Mental Health; Patricia Ryan, executive director of California Mental Health Directors Association; and Meg Stanton, representing consumers.

I will begin with Sandra Naylor Goodwin.


MS. SANDRA NAYLOR GOODWIN:  Thank you very much, Mr. Chairman, and good morning to all of you.  I want to thank you for the opportunity to be here to talk about Proposition 63.  My name is Sandra Naylor Goodwin, and I’m the executive director of the California Institute for Mental Health. 


CIMH is a nonprofit organization that was established to improve services for people with mental illnesses and emotional disturbances and to increase awareness about mental health issues.  And we do our work through research, training, technical assistance, policy development, that sort of thing.


Proposition 63, the mental health initiative, presents all of us with just enormous opportunities and enormous challenges.  Awesome challenges, as a matter of fact.  As a state, we really need to be up to the challenges if we’re going to be able to take advantage of the opportunities that the initiative presents us should it pass.


It’s a very complex initiative, and you’ve heard a lot about the structure of it and what it does and doesn’t do, so I’m going to use my limited time to just talk about four issues that I think are important to us.  One of those issues is transforming public mental health in California.  The second one is prevention.  I want to talk about innovative programs and evidence-based practices and defining “unmet need” in this initiative.  So, I’ll try to be very brief on those four issues.


The first opportunity, and again, just awesome challenge should the initiative pass, is to have a clarity, a vision, of what a transformed system of mental health would look like in California.  Under the expansion that’s talked about in the initiative, we could just choose to add more programs and add more individuals into services, but I think if we look at the initiative, it talks about, quote, “With effective treatment and support, recovery from mental illness is feasible for most people.” 


About fourteen years ago I actually worked in this building as a consultant to one of the committees and worked on legislation.  We talked a lot about the hope of recovery, and now, fourteen years later, we know that recovery is not just a hope, it is an actuality for many people.

We also know, based on a body of research and the work that’s been conducted under the Assemblymember’s bill on integrated services for homeless mentally ill people, that those programs that do provide the effective services to achieve recovery are possible in our state.  AB 34 programs are based on an understanding of recovery, the kinds of treatments and services and support it takes to accomplish recovery, and it’s proven to be effective.  With a goal of self-sufficiency, those programs take people who are homeless, who are dependent upon the state, help them find homes, stay out of jail, stay out of hospitals, find jobs, and become once again a part of their communities and their families.  We need to capitalize on the knowledge that we have now to actually transform our system, not just add on services, so that we really do provide real hope and services for people with mental illnesses.


Two years ago our country’s President established a nonpartisan Commission on Mental Health.  That commission has now submitted its report, and it’s a thoughtful report.  It’s a report based on some of the best scientific minds in our country, advocacy from consumers and family members, great systems analysis, and it really lays out a framework for what we can do to transform mental health services.  At CIMH, we would propose that we look to that report in addition to this initiative, to look at how we can transform our services and not simply do add-ons.

The commission report provides the following vision, and I’m going to read it to you:


“We envision a future where everyone with a mental illness will recover; a future when mental illnesses can be prevented or cured; a future when mental illnesses are detected early; and a future when everyone with a mental illness at any stage of life has access to effective treatment and supports; essentials for living, working, learning, and participating fully in the community.”


We believe that’s a vision that we can all support and that we as a state should really adopt that vision and transform our system to make it a reality.  This initiative really does present that opportunity, and we should accept that challenge.


Now, let me just take a moment on prevention programs.  There are many barriers to Californians getting the services that they need.  The barrier we talk about all the time is funding, but another very important barrier is stigma.  We don’t often talk about stigma, but it is a significant barrier to receiving services.  It’s stigma more than laws the results in us not really being able to achieve real parity in mental health insurance.  It is stigma that keeps rehabilitation programs from providing real rehabilitation for people with mental disabilities.  It is stigma that keeps people out of housing programs and jobs.  And unfortunately, it is internal stigma that keeps people themselves from seeking help when they need it and prevents families from helping their loved ones get help when they need it.


This initiative talks about stigma.  It provides the opportunity for the first time to make getting rid of a stigma—anti-discrimination, anti-stigma—a priority in this state.  We can do a statewide campaign, as well as local strategies, to eradicate stigma.  Again, we need to accept that challenge and make that a reality.


Another opportunity and challenge the initiative provides is in suicide prevention.  Suicide is a serious public health issue, and it doesn’t get the public attention that it deserves.  Suicide is the leading cause of death worldwide, outnumbering homicide or war-related death.  I want to read a few statistics because they’re very important in helping us think about why suicide prevention is so important.


Suicide was the 11th leading cause of death among Americans in 2000.  More than 152,000 hospital admissions and more than 700,000 visits to hospital emergency rooms were for self-harming behaviors.  The vast majority of people who die by suicide have mental illnesses, usually undiagnosed or untreated.  Suicide was also the second leading cause of death among adults 25 to 34 years old and fourth for ages 35 to 44.  The rate of suicide is highest among older men compared to all other age groups, but sadly, it’s also a youth problem.  Among youth age 10 to 14, suicide is the fourth largest cause of death, and among children 15 to 24, the third largest.  Alarmingly, the rate of suicide among teens has tripled since the 1950s.  Once again, a very significant problem, a wonderful opportunity, and a challenge for us that we must make a reality.

Now, briefly, a few comments about innovative programs and evidence-based practices.  The mental health initiative requires that a county mental health program develop innovative programs.  At CIMH, we’ve been promoting evidence-based practices, and we’re working with some 25 to 30 counties around the state with about 10 different, specific evidence-based practices in various sites.  

We also consider that in the promotion of evidence-based practices, we also need to focus on the values that California mental health holds dear.  Specifically, recovery, resiliency, and cultural competence.  We think that California needs to take advantage of this initiative, to move away from practices that we know do not work and move toward practices that we know do work.  And I’ll give you a couple of examples.

We know that for people with co-occurring mental health and substance use disorders, integrated practices do work.  They do provide positive outcomes.  On the other side, if the services are not integrated but provided separately, either in parallel or sequentially, they’re less likely to provide good outcomes.  We need to focus on what works.


Another example:  We know that troubled children sent to boot camps will actually increase their delinquent and troublesome behaviors.  On the contrary, family-focused programs are much more likely to provide outcomes that are positive.


Now, evidence-based practices is a complex subject.  It’s become one of those buzzwords that everybody’s talking about, so lots of people claim to be providing services that are evidenced-based.  Some states have even moved to funding only evidence-based practices; so it’s really important people provide evidence-based practices.  But when you’re assessing an evidence-based practice, it’s important to look at the level of science that’s actually behind it:  what kind of evidence, what kind of population the evidence-based practice has been tested on, and the circumstances in which it was tested.  Especially for California, with our diverse population, we need to especially look at:  Has the program been tested on anything remotely resembling the population that we need to serve?  If not, it doesn’t mean we can’t do it, but we’ve got to really carefully assess and work with the community to be sure that that particular practice has promise of working with that population.  And then we have the duty to evaluate that and to provide the kind of research we need so that we can grow the body of knowledge that helps us understand how to provide services to our populations.


Conversely, I think it’s really important that we look at indigenous practices.  We’re talking about evidence-based practices.  There are many indigenous practices among communities that show promise.  We have the duty to look at those practices and provide the kind of evaluation we need to again grow the body of evidence.


So, back to just the challenge here—let’s move away from practices that don’t work; let’s increase our knowledge base; and let’s focus on practices that do work.

My last comment, and I’ll be very brief, and that has to do with defining unmet need.  The initiative requires an expansion of services.  It would be very tempting to just add up new people and add up new programs.  We need to look at people who are currently in the system but who may be inadequately served.  A brief example:  Many programs have what we call the, quote, “meds-only caseload.”  That’s a group of people with serious mental illnesses not in crisis who seem to do well, or at least not get worse, by receiving medications and seeing a psychiatrist once every couple of months.  That is not a level of service that provides a hope of recovery.  So, our challenge here is to really look at unmet need and understand where those populations or individuals currently in the system are not receiving adequate services and address that issue, as well as people who are not receiving service at all.


So, that concludes my testimony.  Thank you very much.


SENATOR CHESBRO:  Thank you for your very insightful testimony, particularly with regards to the fact that our challenge is not just monetary, it’s also a question of content and quality of programs and what works and what doesn’t.  


However, back on the quantitative question, let me ask you, I think we all know that we have a large unmet need and we’ve under-financed.  Assemblyman Steinberg very eloquently talked about our history.  Do we have any sense of how this measure would provide as compared to what the cost of a system that was, really, one that’s met all of the needs in California would cost?  I mean, I’m trying to get a general idea of what portion of the unmet need we’re going to be able to address with this measure and maybe create a little reality check as well to the fact that this is not. . . . you know, people think, Well, we adopted the lottery, so the schools are fixed, and We have Indian gaming, so Indians don’t have any challenges anymore.  I think we also need to have a realistic picture about the fact that this would provide a huge step forward but it’s not a panacea, and our problems won’t be gone simply because we’ve found a new funding source.


MS. NAYLOR GOODWIN:  I very much appreciate you bringing that up because I think one of the major downsides of this initiative is the sense that, Oh, this problem is taken care of; we don’t need to worry about this any longer.

I think the challenge is sort of twofold:  It’s retooling our existing system and then expanding that system.  I don’t, off the top of my head, I’m sorry to say, know exactly what those numbers are, but I’m confident that we could put those numbers together and submit them to you, if that’s something you’d like us to do.


SENATOR CHESBRO:  That would be real helpful.


MS. NAYLOR GOODWIN:  We’d be happy to do that.


SENATOR CHESBRO:  Great.  Thank you.


Next we’re going to hear from Patricia Ryan, who’s the executive director of the California Mental Health Directors Association.


MS. PATRICIA RYAN:  Good morning, Mr. Chair and Members.  As you just said, I’m Patricia Ryan, executive director of the California Mental Health Directors Association.  I, too, appreciate the opportunity you’ve given me to share with you some of our thoughts as we hopefully prepare for implementation of Prop. 63, the Mental Health Services Act.


I did want to give a little bit of context.  I’m not going to go into the full extent of my written testimony, but I think it’s important for all of us to view the proposal in a broader context and recognize the immediate fiscal pressures that county mental health departments are under right now as they face and are implementing significant reductions in staff and services in many counties.  The reality is that our public mental health system in California, which is primarily administered by counties, is in crisis.  As you know, county and city mental health funding comes primarily from two sources:  realignment and Medi-Cal.  Realignment revenues are the largest revenue source.  The other largest revenue source is federal Medicaid dollars, which counties manage the Medi-Cal Specialty Mental Health Program for the state.


Understanding how these two funding sources work and interact with each other is critical to analyzing the current structure and status of our public mental health services.  But the bottom line is that realignment is broken with regard to mental health funding.  There are a lot of reasons for that, that, again, I won’t go into here.  But lack of growth in the realignment Mental Health Subaccount has significantly decreased counties’ ability to provide care to their indigent target population, which was meant to be their primary responsibility.  The level of unmet need for mental health services is growing and will only continue to get worse without a structural fix to realignment or some other fix, such as Prop. 63.  The ability of counties to meet their legal mandates in the Medi-Cal program is directly tied to the adequacy of realignment funds.


What does all this mean in real life?  It means that if you or a family member had bipolar disorder or schizophrenia or some other serious mental illness and was in need of medication or other community-based treatment, you likely would only have access to treatment if you reached a crisis and got some kind of crisis intervention services or more likely ended up in the emergency room or in jail.  There’s simply not enough funding in many communities for anything other than crisis care for children, adults, and older adults who are not Medi-Cal eligible and are either uninsured or underinsured.  Without Prop. 63, there’s no apparent remedy in sight for this situation.


Having painted that rosy picture for everybody, I want to talk a little bit about specifics and some of our thoughts with regard to Prop. 63.  The Mental Health Directors have spent a lot of time recently talking about how we would implement this exciting initiative.  We really see this as truly a once-in-a-lifetime opportunity to finally fulfill the promises Assemblyman Steinberg said and has been saying throughout the state.  We think that it would allow us to focus on a service system that’s based on availability and accessibility of a continuum of care; hopefully, quality-based treatment based on evidence-based practices.  It would help us:  develop the human resources and infrastructure needed for such a system to focus on meaningful outcomes and help build the infrastructure for collecting meaningful outcomes and quality of life, interface with other components of the healthcare and human services systems, protect individuals with mental illness from dangerous environments, and ensure accountability at all levels.  It would also allow us, perhaps for the first time, to focus on innovative programs and on prevention programs, including suicide prevention.

To summarize, we’re very excited about the potential for improving many individuals’ lives that this proposition represents, and as we prepare for what we hope will be implementation of the act, we’d like to share with you some of our thoughts.


First, Prop. 63 would require each county to. . . . or multiple counties jointly to convene a local stakeholders process to develop a three-year integrated plan that identifies unmet need for services in that community.  The plan must also include proposals for innovative programs and early intervention and prevention.  Given the current financial situation in most counties, expectations, as you mentioned earlier, are very high about what the funding for Prop. 63 could actually pay for or will actually pay for.  Everyone has ideas about how the money should be spent already, and they’re probably all justified.  However, even with the infusion of funding that this would bring, it’ll not be enough to pay for what we truly need.


So, we believe that one of the most helpful first steps that the state Department of Mental Health could play in the implementation process is to develop a format and a framework for the local planning and stakeholder process which would help to ensure that every community begins on a level playing field, using consistent processes statewide.


We also believe that it’s important for the state to develop with stakeholder input a statewide vision and framework for what we want our mental health system to look like based on the ultimate goal of recovery for every individual, and Dr. Goodwin already talked about that at length.


Having said that, we believe it’s also important to ensure that local communities are given as much flexibility as possible to assess the gaps in the continuum of care in their communities and to formulate plans that make sense for them.  Communities will vary widely in what they see as their priorities, particularly in the first few years, and we would hope that the local stakeholders process would be allowed to work without too much interference from the state.


Again, with regard to measuring unmet need, we think that it’s important to understand that measuring unmet need in a community can become complex and each community will have unique needs.  For example, if we look at just the numbers of people served in each county compared to those who are not getting any services, we’ll miss the boat.  Many individuals who currently receive services don’t receive anywhere near the level of care they actually need because there aren’t enough funds.  Unmet need must therefore include identification of those thousands of individuals who currently get the bare minimum of services and are underserved.


A community service mix is also vitally important.  Many communities are not able to provide a continuum of services due to lack of human resources, funding, and infrastructure.  For example, not every county currently has received funding from the state for the AB 2034 program.  Therefore, their needs for funding, at least initially, would be different than other counties’ needs.  Geography is also a key factor in measuring unmet need, and that needs to be taken into consideration.

Finally, the initiative presents an opportunity to begin to address the equity issue among counties and to address specific underserved populations, such as older adults who have been historically underfunded and underserved.

We would also hope with regard to the distribution of funds that the state would make every effort to try to distribute the funds as quickly as possible.  The timelines for the development approval of each county’s three-year plan could mean that treatment funds will not be distributed to counties potentially for several years.  We’d like to see the state consider . . . 


SENATOR CHESBRO:  You’re not necessarily as optimistic as Assemblyman Steinberg?


MS. RYAN:  I’d like to be.


We have a plan for this—or a proposal for this.  We’d like to see the state develop a method for getting some base money out to counties early, with the bulk of the remaining money contingent on adoption and approval of the three-year integrated plan by the state and/or the Oversight and Accountability Commission.


SENATOR CHESBRO:  And you think that that would be allowable within the statute as proposed, or would it require us to. . . . which, of course, will take another year to put some clarifying . . . 


MS. RYAN:  I don’t think it prohibits that, based on our reading of it.  So, we just sort of want to throw it out there.


SENATOR CHESBRO:  Well, as I said earlier during Assemblymember Steinberg’s comments, I would expect that in the budget process, early in the budget process, in order to help with moving these things quickly, we can try to get the Administration and the counties and other interested parties before the budget subcommittees to—I guess I can only speak for the Senate side but at least on the Senate side—to explore what’s possible to try to move things quickly.

MS. RYAN:  This is all going to be very complex and all going to need to be happening at the same time.  For example, it’s going to be difficult for a community to conduct its stakeholder process if they have no idea how much money they’re going to be expecting.  So, even if they could be given a base amount, that’ll get them started; at least talking and coming up with something that could be submitted for approval.


Finally, while we strongly support the need for the state to ensure effective oversight, we find the Oversight and Accountability Commission a little bit confusing and would hate for the complexity of the process and the lack of clarity for how the three entities—the state, the planning council, and the Oversight and Accountability Commission—to unnecessarily slow down the approval and evaluation process and thus get funds out to counties and the clients they serve.


One example is that the process of appointing commission members doesn’t have a timeline on it.  You know, we know how long sometimes these political appointments take, and if that’s allowed to slow down the entire process because they don’t have people in those positions, then that could be a major problem.


Again, we support significant oversight and effective oversight and just hope that the process that we end up with is something that is workable to get us towards our goal.

We’re excited about the opportunities.  We’re hard at work trying to figure out how we’re going to make all this work.  We are having discussions with the Department of Mental Health to try to make sure that we can hit the ground running in the event that, hopefully, the initiative passes.


I’d be happy to answer any questions.


SENATOR CHESBRO:  Okay.  Well, I kept thinking of questions, and then you kept answering them in your testimony.  I appreciate your comments.


I want to acknowledge Assemblymember Ridley-Thomas who’s joined us.  Good to have you.


Any questions from Members?


Mr. Bermúdez.


ASSEMBLYMAN RUDY BERMÚDEZ:  Thank you, Senator.


Just from the first speaker, you mentioned that the boot camps have a declined benefit.  So often our media promotes the utilization of boot camps rather than other forms of therapy and treatment.  Could you give us an explanation why this occurs, rather than the data that you have?


MS. NAYLOR GOODWIN:  Yes.  This is just an opinion, mind you, but it seems to me that people are attracted to easy solutions, and the notion of somehow sending kids off to this boot camp where they’re going to “get straightened up” appeals to people generally.  It looks like a relatively inexpensive, quick fix.  And yet, when you look at the data, which is one reason we keep pushing evaluation, and really look at what happens, not just what we hope will happen, the data is that the kids who go to those camps actually get worse.  They exhibit many more disruptive and juvenile delinquent type of behaviors.


So, that’s a simplistic answer, but I think it’s the best one I can give you.


SENATOR CHESBRO:  Okay, thank you very much.


Next I’m going to welcome Meg Stanton, who is here as a consumer of mental health services.

Before you speak, I just want to say I think it’s extremely important that you’re here.  I made reference earlier when the Assemblyman was up here to the experience that he and I had early in our terms of participating in hearings around the state and hearing from consumers.  I think it’s not only important for consumers to have that experience and become advocates for themselves, but I think it’s very important in terms of informing and educating how we go about these things in each step of the process, both before the Legislature and I hope in these various decision-making bodies that will be helping to formulate the implementation of this measure, and that consumers will have a real active role.  So, I’m glad you’re here.


MS. MEGAN STANTON:  Thank you.


My name is Megan Stanton, and I am a consumer of mental health services, as well as the executive director of a program called Consumer Self-Help, here in Sacramento, which is a consumer-run/consumer-driven organization.  And I’m also on the board of the California Network of Mental Health Clients.


I’m here today to share with you my personal experience as a consumer.  Throughout my early childhood and into my adolescence, on into adulthood, I experienced depressive episodes and went without treatment.  My parents called me “moody,” “isolative,” a bunch of different things.  I didn’t have problems at school, so I pretty much went untreated and escaped notice until I was about twenty-five years old; at which point I attempted suicide and came to everybody’s attention in my family and extended family.  I had deteriorated to the point of requiring hospitalization, and this is at the point which I then began treatment.  My treatment consisted of taking medications—antidepressants—therapy.  I also went to cognitive behavioral classes.  It was kind of an educational structure, instead of like a group therapy session, which I found very helpful in changing the way that I was thinking about things, which improved my mood and assisted my recovery.

I’m now thirty-five, so this has been a ten-year process of ongoing treatment.  I would say that, for the most part, I consider myself recovered.  I no longer experience depressive symptoms.  I have had a few times when I’ve needed to touch base with myself and return for kind of a tune-up, if you will, when things have gotten out of sorts in my own personal life.  But I have been able to understand fully the symptoms that I experienced so that I can recognize them early on and seek assistance before I ever experience any functional problems.  But I did experience significant functional problems.  I was unable to make decisions for a period of years.  It was very debilitating, and I wish in hindsight that I had been able to receive treatment before reaching that point.  It was very devastating, and it has taken a long time to recover a sense of self-confidence, I think, after you’ve reached that point.  So, I truly think that early intervention is beneficial for people who are experiencing symptoms.


I also am executive director now of a consumer-run/consumer-driven program where I work with many people who have mental health issues who are homeless, who live in room and boards, board and cares.  Some live independently.  And what I can tell you is that many of them are living lives without treatment and experiencing symptoms daily; that they really could truly benefit from some type of assistance.  What we experience in trying to get people connected with services is long waiting lines.  When you have to wait for months at a time to get access to services and you’re homeless, the likelihood of you following through becomes increasingly less likely.  


Our program doesn’t require that you have a diagnosis from traditional mental health services.  We pretty much take anybody who walks in through our doors and assist them with getting services of any type that they feel that they need.  But I can tell you that resources are very slim for our population of people that come through.  Proposition 63 appears to be a light at the end of that tunnel; that it’s really looking at providing some of the very needed and necessary services to get people the kinds of services and treatment that will work in their lives so that they can go on and have a life like I’m living now, which is a meaningful job in the community.  I have two lovely daughters who I am raising successfully that are doing well in school. 


So, treatment, when you have access to it, really makes a difference.  And I think that it’s really important that we all come together and focus on what we need to do to solve the problems.  And so, I appreciate you asking me here today to share my experience with you.


Thank you.


SENATOR CHESBRO:  Well, thank you very much for being here.


Any questions?


Mr. Ridley-Thomas.


ASSEMBLYMAN RIDLEY-THOMAS:  Mr. Chair, I just simply wish to say that I find that testimony most compelling.

SENATOR CHESBRO:  Thank you, Megan.


Let me ask—I know the Network, and I assume from the title of your organization, focuses very much on peer support/self-help kinds of programs.  Have you had a chance—or have you heard discussion around how those programs. . . . how that approach might fare in terms of funding?  You did make reference to the availability of services once people . . .


MS. STANTON:  In regards to the Proposition 63, my understanding is that self-help is included in the proposition as one of the services that would be made available.  I’m not exactly sure under which heading, whether it would be under the innovative services or some other category, but it is included in the type of services that may be available.


SENATOR CHESBRO:  Good.  Okay.  Well, thanks again for sharing your story.


MS. STANTON:  Thank you.


SENATOR CHESBRO:  Appreciate it.  It’s important.


Okay.  If there are no other questions for the panelists, I thank you.

We do have a portion of the agenda open to public testimony.  Please come forward if you would like to address the committee in regards to Proposition 63.


If not, I guess that completes today’s hearing.

We will accept written testimony.  If there are folks here or those watching or who weren’t able to attend who would like to submit for the record written testimony, we will gladly accept it.


With that, I thank my colleagues for participating, and we’ll look forward to the November election and see what new tools we may have to work with.
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